

Technische Universität München TUM School of Education Professur für Formelles und Informelles Lernen

Relevance of Visitors' Personal Context for Learning Outcomes in a Science Museum Visit Motivation, Text Comprehension and Attitude Change

Simone Petronella Christina Phelan

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät *TUM School of Education*der Technischen Universität München
zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Philosophie (Dr. phil.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzende: Prof. Dr. Annette Noschka-Roos

Prüfende/-r der Dissertation: 1. Prof. Dr. Doris Lewalter-Manhart

2. Prof. Dr. Stephan Schwan

Die Dissertation wurde am 13.11.2018 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät *TUM School of Education* am 12.12.2018 angenommen.

Voor jou, mam.

Abstract

This thesis is the result of a combination of studies that were carried out during the final two phases of a 5-year research project titled: user-specific presentation of knowledge with conflicting evidence in museums. The term 'user-specific' is a central theme in this thesis and refers to a focus on the visitor as active, self-determined user of the museum's content and as individual learner. To understand this learner's needs and guide or predict their learning outcomes an understanding of visitors' personal context is pivotal. A fundamental aspect of a visitor's personal context and a motivational starting point of the visit is their visit motivation. Two of the studies in this thesis deal with visit motivation, which can be seen as a situational reflection of a visitors' various personal context elements that bring them to that particular museum on that particular day. The first study describes the development of a short scale that validly and reliably measures visit motivations within and across educational leisure settings. The second study applies this short scale in a nano- and biotechnology exhibition and investigates associations between visit motivation and a selection of visit attributes and visitor characteristics. Findings from these two studies provide insights into differences in visit motivation across three different sites and into the way visit motivation is embedded in visitors' wider personal context. In addition to that, the developed short scale itself is a valuable result and useful tool for future research. A second term drawn from the title of the overarching research project above is 'conflicting evidence'. This refers to the nature of many science and research topics that have found their way into contemporary science and technology exhibitions and forms the backdrop of this thesis. Conflicting information in the museum can be challenging for visitors to deal with and each visitor will deal with such information in their own way. Drawing on a risk-benefit interpretative text as an example of this type of information, studies two and three explore the relevance of visitors' personal context for two different types of learning outcome. Study two investigates the way specific elements of a visitor's personal, motivational background influence visitors' text comprehension. Study three investigates if processing this information can lead visitors to change their attitude and to what extent visitors' attitudinal background influences that change. Findings from studies two and three make a small but valuable contribution to our understanding of the relevance of visitors' personal context when dealing with risk-benefit science information in the museum. Merits and limitations of the studies are discussed with regards to broader theories on museum learning and motivation, with regards to previous findings, implications for practice and recommendations for further research.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Doris Lewalter for creating this opportunity for me several years ago, for her professional guidance and constructive feedback along the way and for her patience, flexibility and support during some of the challenging patches in the past years.

I'd also like to thank Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Schnotz for his helpful feedback and inspiring exchanges during earlier stages of my PhD qualifying process and Prof. Dr. Stephan Schwan for his kind support during the final stages. I'd like to thank my mentor Dr. Lorenz Kampschulte for his friendly encouragement. A special thank you goes out to my former colleague and dear friend Dr. Inga Specht for being my unofficial yet invaluable mentor and tutor throughout this PhD journey. Another thank you goes to Dr. Johannes Bauer, for working with me on our visit motivation short scale.

I'd like to thank my former project-colleague-at-a-distance Rahel Grüninger for the thought-provoking and witty discussions and a big thank you to all my wise and kind former and current colleagues, Anna Braukmann, Claudia Geyer, Sarah Kellberg, Max Knogler, Magdalena Lenker, Anja Mayle, Stephanie Moser, Katrin Neubauer and Magdalena Novak for their feedback and fun times. I would separately like to thank Sarah Bestle, Magdalena Lenker, Anja Mayle, Sarah Reinhold, Maria Schmidt and Selina Suarez for their help during different stages of data collection, and of course all the visitors who took time away from their visit to participate in our (rather time consuming) surveys! Finally, a warm thanks to Angelika Scheitinger-Moll, Henrike Rietz-Leiber and Annette Sprang for helping me navigate German academic bureaucracy...

On a personal note, I am deeply grateful for the love and encouragement of my beloved (extended) family and my dear friends. These past years have not been easy for different reasons, but thanks to you I am staying happy and strong and somehow managed to achieve this utterly unnecessary but highly rewarding personal goal.

Finally, I would like to thank my wonderful daughters Lucie and Tess for putting up with me and being supportive and patient beyond their years and for being the very best distraction any PhD candidate could wish for. Ik hou ongelooflijk veel van jullie!

The biggest thank you goes to my mother for her love, support, encouragement and for creating the time to achieve this by looking after my two lovely little ladies on so many occasions these past years. Zonder jou was me dit niet gelukt. Bedankt, ik hou van je.

Contents

1.	Introduction	7
1.1.	Learning in the museum	7
	1.1.1 Text comprehension	. 10
	1.1.2 Attitude formation and attitude change	. 11
1.2.	Motivation in museums	. 12
	1.2.1 Self-Determination Theory	. 12
	1.2.2 Visit motivation	. 14
1.3.	Dealing with contemporary, conflicting science topics	. 15
	1.3.1 Processsing conflicting science texts	. 16
	1.3.2 Prior attitude and attitude change when dealing with conflicting science.	. 17
	1.3.3 Personal characteristics central to dealing with conflicting science	. 17
1.4.	Summary and research questions	. 19
2.	Methods	. 21
2.1.	Study settings and participants	. 21
2.2.	Treatment (studies 2 and 3)	. 22
2.3.	Instruments and variables	. 23
2.4.	Data analysis	. 23
3.	Study summaries	. 25
3.1.	Study 1	. 25
3.2.	Study 2	. 27
3.3.	Study 3	. 29
4.	Discussion	. 31
4.1.	Study 1	. 31
4.1.	Study 2	. 32
4.3.	Study 3	. 34
4.4.	General discussion	. 35
	References	41

1. Introduction

This thesis is the result of a combination of studies that were carried out during the final two phases of a 5-year DFG funded research project titled: user-specific presentation of knowledge with conflicting evidence in museums (SPP1409 - LE 1303/8-2 & -3). Keywords in this project title, besides the word museums of course, are 'user-specific' and 'conflicting evidence'. The term user-specific refers to a visitor-centred approach when presenting museum content and, consequently, when researching museum learning. The individual visitor and the role their personal context plays in museum learning forms a central theme in this dissertation. The term 'conflicting evidence' refers to the nature of many science and research topics that have found their way into contemporary science and technology exhibitions and forms the backdrop of this thesis. Conflicting information in the museum can be challenging for visitors to deal with as I will describe below. In this introduction, I will start by describing different models of museum learning as a broader theoretical framework for the studies described in this thesis. As part of the section on museum learning, I will take a closer look at text comprehension and attitude formation as they are directly relevant to the studies in this thesis. I will then move on to motivation, which is central to museum learning and describe visit motivation and how it forms a fundamental situational part of visitors' personal context. As the studies discussed in this thesis took place in a contemporary science exhibition, I will proceed by discussing some of the themes addressed in such exhibitions and why these inevitably involve 'conflicting' information. This term merges with the term 'user-specific' when I describe how (parts of a) visitors' personal, motivational background can play a role when dealing with conflicting science topics in the museum. The introduction ends with a brief summary and six main research questions that are drawn from and addressed in the three studies included in this thesis. With the studies described in this thesis, their findings and the individual and overarching discussion, I hope to make a small contribution to our understanding of visit motivation on the one hand and the relevance of visitors' personal context for learning outcomes in a science museum on the other.

1.1. Learning in the museum

In the classical sense, a museum is a "building in which objects of historical, scientific, artistic, or cultural interest are stored and exhibited" (Oxford Dictionaries, 2018). This, however, is a narrow and outdated description of museums today. The international council of museums currently offers the following definition:

"A museum is a non-profit, permanent institution in the service of society and its development, open to the public, which acquires, conserves, researches, communicates and exhibits the tangible and intangible heritage of humanity and its environment for the purposes of education, study and enjoyment" (ICOM, n.d.).

The first mentioned purpose of museums in this definition is education. This purpose is reflected in the museum research literature, where museums are also known as educational leisure settings, informal learning settings, or free-choice learning settings (Falk & Dierking, 1998, 2013). The term 'educational leisure setting' emphasises the museum as a place of teaching and learning that one can attend in one's leisure time. The term 'informal learning' serves to separate museum learning from learning that takes place in formal learning settings, such as schools. The term 'free-choice learning' serves a similar purpose but additionally hints at what museum learning entails, namely something that is done voluntarily. This aspect of free-choice is one of the key elements that make museum learning fascinatingly difficult to grasp. To comprehensively describe museum learning is an enormous challenge and ongoing endeavour of museum researchers and practitioners everywhere (Hohenstein & Moussouri, 2018). Thankfully, there are some theories and models that have helped frame museum studies and have greatly increased our understanding of museum learning. Possibly the most well-known of these is the contextual model of learning (CML; Falk & Dierking, 2013). The CML is a framework aimed at uncovering and organising the complexity of the museum learning experience. It describes this experience as an interaction between three contexts: the personal context, the sociocultural context, and the physical context (Falk & Dierking, 2013). The personal context refers to visitors' background of prior experiences and knowledge for example, but also "individual interests, attitudes and motivations for visiting" (Falk & Dierking, 2013, p. 27). The sociocultural context includes the visitors' cultural background, the cultural setting of the museum as well as the social interactions taking place during the visit. Such social interactions include those between friends or family members that visit together, between (unfamiliar) visitors and between visitors and museum staff. The physical context describes the architectural and design features of the museum, its exhibitions, and exhibits (Falk & Dierking, 2013). Besides these three contexts, the CML also includes the element of 'time'. Falk and Dierking explain that a museum visit is essentially a "snapshot in time" (2103, p. 29). In order to understand and predict (parts of) the museum experience, we need to look at how the museum visit fits within the larger context of a person's life and within the shifting role of the museum in society. Time also serves to illustrate the dynamic interaction between the three contexts, where the influence of each of these on a visitor's experience fluctuates over time (Falk &

Dierking, 2013). Following the CML's element of time, museum learning does not only take place during the visit. It builds on the various learning experiences that took place before a visit and on the prior knowledge, the interests and attitudes that people bring with them to the visit. Museum learning also continues after the visit through additional learning experiences that together contribute to a life-long increase in knowledge and changes in attitudes or behaviours. Although the CML is a useful framework for understanding museum learning, it is, as the name indicates, a model rather than an actual theory of learning (Hohenstein & Moussouri, 2018). The CML is inspired by the educational theory of constructivism (Falk, 2007). Constructivism postulates that knowledge consists as constructs in the individual mind, rather than something that exists outside the learner (Schunk, 2012). Consequently, in constructivism, learning is seen as an active process requiring the learner to make sense of what is presented to their mind and leading to a restructuring of existing mental structures (Hein & Alexander, 1998; Schunk, 2012). This theory fits well with the reality of museum learning as it puts the learner in control of what will be learnt and does not expect learning to follow a specific curriculum (Allen, 2004; Hein & Alexander, 1998; Hohenstein & Moussouri, 2018). Besides being directly applied as theoretical framework in various museum studies (e.g. Allen, 2004), constructivism also gave rise to another model designed to capture museum learning: the generic learning outcomes (GLO; Hooper-Greenhill, 2004). The GLO were developed by the Research Centre for Museums and Galleries in an effort to measure the various possible outcomes of learning in cultural institutions (Hooper-Greenhill, 2004). The development of the GLO appears to be driven by the need for such institutions to convince policy makers and financiers of their educational impact (cf. Hooper-Greenhill, 2007). This led to a broad understanding of learning translated into five learning outcome categories: knowledge and understanding; skills; attitudes and values; enjoyment, inspiration and creativity; and activity, behaviour, and progression (Hooper-Greenhill, 2007). These five broad categories of museum learning each encompasses various subcategories. Skills for example, involve social, emotional and physical skills, but also cognitive or intellectual skills, such as critical and ethical thinking (Hooper-Greenhill, 2007). With its focus on outcomes as a framework to study museum learning the GLO approach clearly differs from the CML. While the CML attempts to unveil and classify the many aspects that contribute to museum learning, the GLO illustrate that these aspects yield many possibilities for learning. Each in their own way are helpful tools when studying museum learning, and I will refer back to these models when framing the studies described in this thesis and discussing their merits and limitations. I will now briefly describe two aspects of museum learning that are directly relevant for the studies described in this thesis, one being text comprehension, and the other attitude change.

1.1.1. Text comprehension

Although objects and visualisations have always played a central role in the museum, texts are still the main medium for conveying knowledge (Dawid & Schlesinger, 2002; Kanel & Tamir, 1991). Texts can be found throughout the museum and serve to provide information, explain or personalise objects, instruct, orient or guide visitors, question visitors' views and provoke visitors (Serrell, 2015). Interpretative text can be presented visually, e.g. on text panels, touch screens, or walls, or acoustically via audio installations or audio guides as well as via other media, such as tablets (Schwan, Dutz, & Dreger, 2018). Visual (written) and auditory presentation are two main presentation modalities used to present interpretative text in the museum (Serrell, 2015). Interpretive texts provide the necessary background information for visitors to connect with the objects on display, allowing the object to resonate in a way that cannot be achieved with objects alone (Screven, 1992; Serrell, 2015). They have recently been found to improve visitors' memory of the pictorial details of art works compared to a label with minimal information (Schwan et al., 2018). Texts also play an important role in the 'scaffolding' of information that most science museums rely on to cater to the information needs of a diverse audience (Allen, 2004). For those visitors that want to find out more, texts enable them to build knowledge structures by allowing for a comparison of conceptual structures (Kintsch, 1994; Schnotz, 2002) and fostering deeper understanding of the (initial) messages conveyed through the object. Just like any other text, museum text requires the reader to construct a mental representation based on a combination of their background knowledge and inferences drawn from the text (Schnotz, 2002). Text comprehension consists of different levels. The shallowest level of understanding is formed by the encoding of words and phrases (surface structure). A deeper level is understanding the semantic content, constituted by semantic units called propositions. The text base is the subset of the propositional representation, which is explicitly mentioned in the text. Successful comprehension culminates in the construction of a mental modal (also referred to as the situation model), which requires readers to combine textual information and background knowledge (Schnotz, 2002). It involves the ability to draw inferences and coherently link ideas (Graesser, León, & Otero, 2002). The two presentation modalities, visual and auditory text, each have their advantages and disadvantages for text processing (Kürschner, Schnotz, & Eid, 2007). Visual text, for example, is "permanently" available, allowing readers to determine their own pace, skip through or reread passages, and to have more control over which details to focus on. This generally does not apply to spoken text, which is of an ephemeral nature, has a fixed pace, and tends to result in a more general level of understanding (Kürschner et al., 2007). On the other hand, auditory information is known to draw people's attention more strongly and is less susceptible to distractions than visual information, which can be particularly advantageous in an informal learning setting (Novey & Hall, 2006). Furthermore, spoken text can provide listeners with auxiliary information by means of pitch, prosody, speed, and pauses that can aid their understanding (Danks & End, 1987; Kürschner et al., 2007). Besides these differences, it is important to consider the effect of a combined presentation of text with objects or images, as is the case in the museum. When simultaneously processing text and pictures or objects, visual text can be expected to 'compete' with the visual image (Mayer & Moreno, 1998). Findings from a recent study indeed show auditory text compared to written text leads to better recollection of the text and of pictorial details of art works in a museum-like setting (Schwan et al., 2018).

1.1.2. Attitude formation and attitude change

Encouraging visitors to form or adjust their attitudes toward other people, themselves or a specific topic has become a common part of many museums' missions (Bell, 2008; Cameron, 2005; Hooper-Greenhil, 2007; Mazda, 2004; Pedretti, 2004; Serrell, 2015). To illustrate, the mission statement for the Deutsche Museum, one of the largest and well-known science museums in Europe and study setting for the studies described in chapter three, reads:

"The Deutsches Museum addresses controversial issues and acts as a venue where people can exchange ideas, form their own opinions, and participate in the world of science and technology" (Deutsches Museum, n.d.).

Opinions are synonymous for attitudes (Bergman, 1998), which refer to the "general and relatively enduring evaluations people have of other people, objects, or ideas" (Petty, Wheeler, & Tormala, 2003, p. 353). Attitudes have an affective and a cognitive component and are formed and changed by a mixture of prior knowledge, existing attitude and the more or less elaborate processing of new information (Dole & Sinatra, 1998; Petty et al., 2003). The elaboration likelihood model (ELM; Petty & Cacioppo, 1986) is a well-known theoretical model describing attitude change. The model can be seen as an elaboration continuum, with a mainly affective processing of information at the low end and a high degree of invested cognitive effort at the high end (Petty et al., 2003). Although it is mostly used in the field of persuasion, it has also been applied to informal learning settings such as museums (Brossard, Lewenstein, & Bonney, 2005; Webb, 1997). By offering an appealing, layered, affective and cognitive learning experience and by virtue of being a credible and trusted source of information, museums seem well equipped to influence visitors' attitudes. Information processing in a museum covers the entire spectrum of the elaboration continuum. Similar to the underlying principle of the ELM, visitors'

interests, motivation and abilities play an important role in the themes they choose to deal with and how deeply they process the information on display (Csikszentmihalyi & Hermanson, 1995; Falk & Dierking, 2013). Webb (1997, p. 276) suggests that exhibit designers attempt to activate the visitors' affective side, which "has its antennae up all the time," with the aim of subsequently provoking a cognitive response. An example of a cognitive response is a visitor turning to an accompanying interpretive text to find out more about a certain topic. Although both affective and cognitive information processing can lead to a change in attitude, the latter is known to lead to stronger attitudes (Petty et al., 2003). An attitude is considered strong when it is persistent, resistant to change, or has a strong impact on thoughts and behaviour (Krosnick & Petty, 1995). Attitude strength has several dimensions, all of which hold one or more of these qualities of attitude strength (Krosnick, Boninger, Chuang, Berent, & Carnot, 1993; Visser, Bizer, & Krosnick, 2006). Four of these dimensions of attitude strength (prior knowledge, attitudinal certainty, attitudinal importance and attitudinal ambivalence) are included in study three as part of visitors' prior attitude.

1.2. Motivation in museums

As free-choice learning settings, where learners are free to navigate and decide what to engage in and for how long, insight into what drives visitors can help us to understand and possibly predict some of their learning experiences (Falk & Dierking, 1998, 2013). Compared to other realms of educational research, research on museum learning therefore calls for a special focus on motivational factors (Falk, 2009).

1.2.1. Self-Determination Theory

Motivation is what *moves* people to act, i.e. what directs individuals' behaviour (Ryan & Deci, 2017a). One prominent theory that helps explain different types of motivation is self-determination theory (SDT; Ryan & Deci, 2017a). SDT provides a framework for making predictions about which aspects of a social context (in our case the museum) will support high-quality motivation and general well-being (Ryan & Deci, 2017a). Following SDT, "an understanding of human motivation requires a consideration of the innate psychological needs for competence, autonomy, and relatedness" (Deci & Ryan, 2000, p. 227). I will briefly describe these needs and how they relate to the museum as free-choice learning setting. First is the need for competence, which describes a person's desire to feel effective; that is, to master the given demands of a task or learning situation and to feel challenged but still up to the task at hand (Ryan & Deci, 2017a). In the context of learning, the need for competence is supported by providing a scaffolding of structure (Ryan & Deci, 2017a; Reeve, Ryan, Deci, & Jang, 2008). Museums meet this need by

offering information hierarchies of varying difficulty, allowing visitors to find their own optimal degree and level of information for each domain or topic they encounter during the visit (Falk & Dierking, 2013). Sue Allen describes the challenge of designing exhibits that are "effective as teaching tools" and yet "support a diverse visiting public in making their own personal choices about where to attend, what to do, and how to interpret their own actions" (2004, p. 17). Successful design, according to Allen, highlights easy and fun aspects of science learning, holds back on the more effortful aspects and offers consecutive steps of inquiry drawing on visitors' curiosity to "scaffold them through the cycle [of inquiry]" (2004, p. 20). The second basic need in SDT is the need for autonomy. This need describes a person's desire to be an independent actor with individual goals who acts in accordance with an integrated self (Ryan & Deci, 2017a; Ryan & Deci, 2017b). Museums are well suited to support this basic need. The need for autonomy is an integral part of museum visits by virtue of it, at least in most cases, being 'free-choice'. Also, museums use different media to present a wide range of information that visitors can approach voluntarily and process in their own manner, at their own pace, and in their own chosen order (Rounds, 2004). Third is the need for relatedness, or the strong desire for satisfactory social contacts. Most museum visitors are accompanied by partners, friends or family members, thereby meeting their own need to feel connected. Museums anticipate this need by offering opportunities for social interaction in basic facilities as well as via multiplayer exhibits, for example. Furthermore, museum staff, such as tour guides or demonstrators, offer opportunities for social interaction for all visitors, including those who come to the museum on their own (Falk & Dierking, 2013). SDT proposes that these three basic psychological needs (for competence, autonomy and relatedness) promote high-quality forms of self-determined and intrinsic motivation for, and engagement in, activities (Ryan & Deci, 2017a) including learning (Reeve et al., 2008). Reflecting on the above, it seems that for museum visits, the innate psychological needs described in SDT are reflected in all three contexts described in the CML. The three basic needs are either met through a visitor's personal context (e.g. their level of competence in the museum's domain), the sociocultural context (e.g. their visit company) or the physical context (e.g. by the museum offering content for different learning needs and preferences). Taken together, from a motivational perspective it seems safe to assume that museums offer the ideal nursing ground for highly motivated and self-determined learning. Though approaching it from different angles and using different descriptions, most museum researchers agree that museums offer intrinsically motivated, curiosity-driven learning opportunities (Csikszentmihalyi & Hermanson, 1995; Falk & Dierking, 2013; Rounds, 2004; Packer, 2006). This is an affordance of museums that most museum visitors are aware

of and anticipate (Falk, 2009). It is however, not the only affordance of museum that moves visitors to a museum (Black, 2005; Falk, 2009), as will become clear next.

1.2.2. Visit motivation

The construct 'visit motivation' captures the various needs and drives that bring a visitor to a specific site on a specific day (Falk, 2009; Moussouri, 1997; Packer & Ballantyne, 2002). It is a fundamental motivational starting point of a museum visit and a central focus of this thesis. Visit motivation has been studied for several decades, with different researchers approaching and describing visit motivation in different ways. An early paper describing different motivations for visiting museums came from Marilyn Hood's (1983) research on why people choose not to visit. Hood studied sixty years of literature in different fields and "identified six major attributes underlying adults' choices in their use of leisure time" (p. 51). More than a decade later, Sharon Macdonald (1995) condensed findings from forty-two group interviews with science museum visitors into four broad visit motivation categories. She coined the term 'cultural itineraries' (1995, p. 16) to implicate visitors' own strategies as well as wider socio-cultural patterns in motivations for visiting museums. Theano Moussouri expanded on this work and established ten motivation categories (1997; Moussouri & Roussos, 2013). Moussouri (1997; Falk, Moussouri & Coulson, 1998) suggests that visit motivation forms part of a visitor's agenda, together with visit strategy. She distinguished between three types of strategies for experiencing a museum visit: unfocused, moderately focused and focused. "Visitors with an unfocused strategy are generally unaware of museum/exhibition opportunities and are open to experiencing whatever the museum has to offer" whereas "visitors with a focused agenda plan their visit before they go to the museum; usually with a specific goal in mind" (Falk et al., 1998, p. 108). The moderately focused visit strategy falls in between the two. However, Falk, Moussouri and Coulson (1998) did not find any significant correlations between visit strategy and their six visit motivation categories. Around the same time, Doering and Pekarik described what they called visitors' entrance narratives, which consist of "a basic framework, i.e. the fundamental way that individuals construe and contemplate the world; information about a given topic, organized according to that basic framework; personal experiences, emotions and memories that verify and support this understanding" (1996, p. 20). In their paper they explain that visitors' entrance narratives shape their visit experience and that exhibitions that echo these entrance narratives will be most satisfying. In a later study the authors presented list of fourteen satisfying experiences, categorised into four clusters that visitors look forward to in a visit (Pekarik, Doering, & Karns, 1999). John Falk's theoretical and empirical studies of identities and motivations for visiting led to development of an identity-related visitor motivation model

(2006, 2009; Falk et al., 1998; Falk, Heimlich, & Bronnenkant, 2008). Falk suggests that "most museum visitors "enact" a museum "identity" during their visit: an identity that characterizes their motivations for that visit" (Falk, 2006 p. 154). He explains: "The essence of the model is that each museum visit experience is the synthesis of the individual's identity-related needs and interests and the views of the individual and society of how the museum can satisfy those needs and interests" (2009, p. 36). In other words, Falk suggests that the various individual elements of a visitor's personal background yield a specific motivation (2006, 2009). Finally, Jan Packer (2004; Packer & Ballantyne, 2002) approached visit motivation from a personal goals perspective and combined a literature review with pilot studies to devise a questionnaire with forty "possible reasons for visiting an educational leisure setting, expressed in terms of the desired outcome of the visit" (Packer & Ballantyne, 2002, p. 188). Through factor analysis she established that visit motivation is a multidimensional construct consisting of five categories. However, other studies, including the ones mentioned above, resulted in different categories. Visit motivation has been studied by a variety of disciplines, varying from sociology and museology to marketing, which has resulted in an assortment of visit motivation categories. Interestingly, despite various divergences in methodologies and research settings, there is considerable overlap in the visit motivation categories found in the various studies. Frequently mentioned visit motivations include the motivation to learn, to socialise, to relax, to have fun, to introspect, and to have a new experience (for a brief overview, see Phelan, Bauer, & Lewalter, 2018). Although any one of these may be dominant motivations for visiting a particular museum on a particular day, visitors can have more motivations for visiting (Falk, Moussouri, & Coulson, 1998). Different studies have shown that visit motivations will direct the choices visitors make during the visit, that they can indicate which needs are or are not being met and that they will influence visitors' learning experiences (Doering & Pekarik, 1996; Falk, 2006; Falk, Moussouri, & Coulson, 1998; Falk & Storksdieck, 2005; Mason, Robinson, & Coffield, 2018; Leinhardt, Crowley, & Knutson, 2002; Packer & Ballantyne, 2002) and long-term recollections of visits (Falk, 2009; Falk & Storksdieck, 2010).

1.3. Dealing with contemporary, conflicting science topics

Science museums play a unique and important educational role in society by covering a wide range of historical and contemporary topics, reaching a relatively wide audience, and having the distinct capacity to make scientific and technological concepts tangible (Allen, 2004; Bell, Lewenstein, Shouse, & Feder, 2009; Falk & Dierking, 2013). Science museums traditionally focus on established knowledge, such as science history and the achievements of science in terms of facts, figures, principles and products (Delicado,

2009). However, nowadays science museums also incorporate contemporary, ongoing ('unfinished') science and socio-scientific content into their exhibitions, bringing with them a range of conflicting or controversial science and technology topics (Bell, 2008; Cameron, 2005; Dorfman, 2018; Meyer, 2010; Yaneva, Rabesandratana, & Greiner, 2009). Rightfully so, because ongoing research, conflicts and controversies belong to the normal course of science (Bell, 2008; Bromme & Kienhues, 2014; Dascal, 1998) and presenting such topics is pertinent to any institution that aims to inform the public and provide a comprehensive portrayal of science and its role in society. Two of the studies presented in this thesis deal with a current science topic that is presented in a way that highlights the (potentially) conflicting nature of the subject. 'Conflicting' in this sense, is used broadly, encompassing 'incompatible', 'opposing' or 'discrepant' views or positions, which does not rule out the possibility of resolving the conflict (Bråten & Braasch, 2018). Scientific conflicts can arise in various ways. For example, conflicts can stem from scientists approaching a question from different theoretical perspectives or by using different methods (Dumanoski, Farland, & Krimsky, 1999), both of which can lead to contradictory results or opposing statements from different scientific experts. Conflicting information can also come about when scientific findings are translated into practice (e.g. in the form of recommended actions), especially when the topic mixes science with politics or ethics (Bromme & Kienhues, 2014). Finally, scientific research that is still ongoing is by definition open-ended, and likely to have a range of possible and potentially contradictory outcomes that surface when listing risks and benefits, for example (Bromme & Kienhues, 2014; Durant, 2004; Field & Powell, 2001). In museums, controversial and open-ended science topics tend to be presented in the form of different positions, pros and cons or risks and benefits, as this can help curators to present a balanced view (Cameron, 2005; cf. Mazda, 2004). Exhibitions dealing with such topics are thought-provoking sites. They are designed to encourage visitors to reflect upon the different sides of a story, increase their understanding and form or adjust their attitudes toward the topics on display (Chittenden, 2011; Mazda, 2004; Meyer, 2010; Pedretti, 2004). However, dealing with such information can be challenging and different visitors deal with these challenges in different ways. In sections 1.1.1 and 1.2.1 I described text comprehension and attitude change as concrete examples of on-site museum learning. I will now expand on these descriptions for the specific situation of dealing with conflicting science topics.

1.3.1. Processing conflicting science texts

Museum texts containing controversial or (seemingly) contradictory information require extra effort on the part of the visitor (Britt, Richter, & Rouet, 2014). Visitors reading text containing opposing positions on a topic do not only need to understand the surface

structure and text base of each position separately and construct separate mental models, they also need to interrelate these by integrating information across both positions (Britt et al., 2014; Stadtler, Scharrer, & Bromme, 2011). The reader has to engage in elaborate cognitive processing and draw inferences between conflicting statements to evaluate if and how the presented positions are compatible and different readers deal with such information in different ways (Britt, Richter, & Rouet, 2014; Specht, Phelan, & Lewalter, 2015).

1.3.2. Prior attitude and attitude change when dealing with conflicting science

Information containing different viewpoints, pros and cons or risks and benefits do not only increase visitors' general understanding, they also form an important basis for the development of evidence-based public attitudes toward, for example, emerging technologies (Fischer, Van Dijk, De Jonge, Rowe, & Frewer, 2013). As Beverly Serrell states, exhibit developers rely on interpretative text to "tell stories, contrast points of view, present challenging issues or strive to change people's attitudes" (2015, p. 19). As with other types of learning outcome in the museum, to understand attitude change in the museum requires some knowledge of visitors' personal background, in this case their prior attitudes. One specific part of a person's prior attitude that seems particularly relevant to dealing with risk-benefit information, is attitudinal ambivalence. A person with an ambivalent attitude has simultaneously positive and negative associations with an attitude object, as opposed to an association that is negative, positive, or neutral (Conner & Armitage, 2008; De Liver, Van der Pligt, & Wigboldus, 2007; Visser et al., 2006). Attitudinal ambivalence is an attribute of the attitude itself, is one of several dimensions of attitude strength, and has been linked to resistance to attitude change (Krosnick et al., 1993; Visser et al., 2006). Risk-benefit text can be considered ambiguous information, which forms an antecedent of attitudinal ambivalence from a theoretical perspective (Conner & Armitage, 2008). Of course, this does not mean a risk-benefit text will always lead to an ambivalent attitude; rather, studies such as Fischer et al. (2013) and Jonas, Diehl, and Brömer (1997) have indicated that ambiguous information can influence attitudes in a number of different ways. Considering the broad museum audience, with divergent levels of prior knowledge and a wide range of prior attitudes, it is interesting to find out if risk-benefit information can lead museum visitors to change their attitudes and whether attitudinal ambivalence can influence that change.

1.3.3. Personal characteristics central to dealing with conflicting science

From sections 1.1 and 1.2 it becomes clear that the free choice nature of a museum visit leads to very individual and intrinsically motivated learning experiences. Finding out more

about visitors' personal background is key to understanding and predicting how individual visitors deal with complex, conflicting science topics in the museum. Of course, there are numerous personal characteristics that vary from person to person or from situation to situation and that together play a role in how visitors deal with the information encountered during their visit (Falk, 2007; Mason, Robinson, & Coffield, 2018; Leinhardt, Crowley, & Knutson, 2002). In this section I will describe a handful of personal characteristics with expected relevance for museum learning in general and processing conflicting science topics in particular. The first one of these and a central personal characteristic from a motivational viewpoint is interest. Interest is a very strong motivator for behaviour. Interest in an object or activity can lead people to become absorbed in it, which in turn can foster or expand interest (Csikszentmihalyi & Hermanson, 1995; Nakamura & Csikszentmihalyi, 2002; Rounds, 2004). Following Rounds (2004) interest can be seen as the intrinsic reward of satisfying our curiosities while visiting the museum (Rounds, 2004). He suggests "the curiosity-driven visitor seeks interest as an end in itself, and is not concerned with whether the knowledge gained is relevant to some extrinsic benefit" (Rounds, 2004, p. 394). As part of a persons' visit motivation, interest developed in the past can move someone to visit a particular museum and direct their attention during the visit (Csikszentmihalyi & Hermanson, 1995; Hooper-Greenhill, 1999; Nakamura & Csikszentmihalyi, 2002). When visiting a science museum, this past or 'existing' interest can encompass both the broad domain of natural science as well as various topic-specific interests. Interest is known to influence many aspects relevant to formal and informal (i.e. free-choice) learning, varying from attention and concentration to text comprehension and joy when engaging with the topic (Hidi, 2000; Hidi, Renninger & Krapp, 2004; Fox, 2009). Besides interest, visitors' self-efficacy beliefs are an essential part of a visitors' personal context from a motivational viewpoint. Self-efficacy is a person's own judgement of their ability to deal with a certain situation (Bandura, 1977). Self-efficacy beliefs are closely related to the need for competence (Ryan & Deci, 2017b). Like competence, self-efficacy beliefs differ according to the topic or task they refer to. For the challenge of dealing with conflicting, contemporary science topics, this would include visitors' ability to deal with science topics as well as with contradictory information or opposing views. In a previous study, self-efficacy beliefs concerning science reading emerged as relevant predictor for multiple-text comprehension (Bråten, Ferguson, Anmarkrud, & Strømsø, 2013). Also, self-efficacy had an impact on visitors' knowledge increase in two different science museum studies (Lewalter, Geyer, & Neubauer, 2014; Waltner & Wiesner, 2009). Apart from interest and self-efficacy, a third personal characteristic should be mentioned. As processing conflicting science information requires some degree of cognitive effort, visitors' need for cognition needs to be considered (Cacioppo & Petty, 1982; Petty, Briñol, Loersch, & McCaslin, 2009). Need for cognition is "a stable individual difference in people's tendency to engage in and enjoy effortful cognitive activity" (Cacioppo, Petty, Feinstein, & Jarvis, 1996, p. 198). A multitude of studies have shown that people that are high in need for cognition engage in greater information-processing activity than those that are low in need for cognition, with one study showing museum visitors with high need for cognition to be significantly more satisfied with cognitive exhibit displays than visitors low in need for cognition (Cacioppo et al., 1996; Yalowitz, 2002). This suggests that the need for cognition may be a predictor of an individual's information processing efforts and experiences in a museum. A final personal characteristic that needs to be introduced due its potential influence on dealing with complex, contradictory science topics are a visitor's epistemic beliefs. Epistemic beliefs are beliefs about the nature of knowledge and knowing (Muis, 2007). They include assumptions regarding the source of knowledge, the construction of knowledge and the certainty of knowledge, and have been linked to science learning in out of school learning settings (Conley, Pintrich, Vekiri, & Harrison, 2004; Price & Lee, 2013; Schommer-Aikins, 2002). They have also been found to influence the processing of dual-positional text (Kardash & Howell, 2000) and are therefore a potential predictor of how a visitor deals with the complexities of a museum text on a current, conflicting science topic. Finally, I'd like to add at this stage that although visit motivation has been studied in the context of the science museum, it has not specifically been linked to dealing with conflicting science topics, which is a gap that this thesis helps to close.

1.4. Summary and research questions

As described in the introduction above, a central theme in this thesis is 'user-specific' i.e. a focus on the visitors as individual, self-determined users of the museum's content and on what they bring with them to the visit. Knowledge of visitors' personal context is crucial to understand and predict (aspects of) museum learning. Two of the studies in this thesis, studies one and two, deal with visit motivation, which is a fundamental aspect of a visitor's personal context and a motivational starting point of the visit. Additionally, study two as well as study three investigate to what extent specific aspects of visitors' personal context affects different examples of learning outcomes. Both studies are set in a contemporary science exhibition and focus on the way visitors deal with 'conflicting' information. As explained in section 1.3, this term describes a specific type of information often encountered in science museums, which in our studies takes the form of a text presenting risks and benefits of biomimetics. From the three studies presented in this thesis, I have drawn a selection of six research questions that together form a thread that starts with what motivates people to visit educational leisure settings in general and

science museums in particular, followed by a closer look at science museum visitors' wider personal context and how these may influence visitors' on-site learning. While study two looks at the way a visitor's personal, motivational background may influence text comprehension, study three investigates if processing this information can lead visitors to change their attitude and if certain dimension of attitude strength influence that change. Together these studies aim to contribute to a better understanding of a small but central part of a visitor's personal and motivational context and an increased insight in the way visitors' personal context can affect (on-site) museum learning. The research questions addressed in this thesis are:

- Is there a common core of visit motivations across educational leisure settings?
 (Study 1)
- 2. Do science museum visitors' average (latent mean) motivation scores differ from those for visitors to an art museum and a zoo? (Study 1)
- 3. What are associations between our six visit motivation categories (see section 3.1.) and visit company, visit strategy, visit frequency, interest in natural science, need for cognition, cognitive self-efficacy and scientific self-efficacy? (Study 2)
- 4. To what extent do the personal characteristics listed under 3, together with topicspecific interest and epistemic beliefs predict visitors' text comprehension when processing a risk–benefit museum text? (Study 2)
- 5. Can processing this risk-benefit museum text lead to an average attitude change in visitors toward the topic being presented? (Study 3)
- 6. To what extent do the different dimensions of attitude strength (prior knowledge, attitudinal certainty, attitudinal importance, and attitudinal ambivalence) predict visitors' average attitude change after processing a risk-benefit museum text? (Study 3)

These questions are addressed in the study summaries in chapter three and discussed, both individually and together, in chapter four. The following chapter describes the methods used in the three studies.

2. Methods

This dissertation is based on three studies described in two published papers and one submitted manuscript:

- 1. Phelan, S., Bauer, J., & Lewalter, D. (2018). Visit motivations: development of a short scale for comparison across sites. *Museum Management and Curatorship*, 33(1), 25–41.
- 2. Phelan, S., Specht, I., & Lewalter, D. (2018). Visit motivation, visitor characteristics and text comprehension in a science museum. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- 3. Phelan, S., Specht, I., Schnotz, W., & Lewalter, D. (2017). Attitude change when presenting science museum visitors with risk–benefit information. *Science Education*, *101*(6), 873–886.

2.1. Study settings and participants

Study one was carried out in three different, well-known educational leisure settings in Munich: the Deutsches Museum (a science museum), the Lenbachhaus (an art museum) and Tierpark Hellabrunn (a zoo). Studies two and three were both carried out in a nanoand biotechnology exhibition that is part of the centre for new technologies in the Deutsches Museum. All participants were visitors that agreed to participate in our studies while visiting. All combinations of visitors were able to join, from individual visitors to groups of friends and families. However, for groups of visitors in study one only one person filled out the questionnaire. For family groups, we requested that the person filling out the questionnaire was at least twelve years old, and underage children (<18) were only allowed to participate with a parent's consent. For studies two and three participants had to be at least fifteen years old, and here too underage participants required consent from an accompanying adult. For study one, visitors were approached as they were entering the site and were asked to participate in our survey. For the studies two and three, visitors to the Deutsches Museum who were browsing the nano- and biotechnology exhibition in the centre for new technologies, were approached and asked to take part in our pre/post survey. Participation was voluntary in all three studies and in studies two and three, as an incentive for participating, visitors' entrance fees were reimbursed. Organised groups such as school groups were excluded in all three studies. Detailed sample descriptions can be found in the original papers. An overview of the study designs, locations and sample sizes can be found in table one.

Table 1. Study design, study settings and participants

	Study design	Locations	Participants (<i>N</i>)
Study 1	Cross-sectional field survey with entrance samples	Science museum Art museum Zoo	199 190 216
Study 2	Pre/post quasi-experi- mental field survey	Science museum (nano- and biotech-nology exhibition)	108
Study 3	Pre/post quasi-experi- mental field survey	Science museum (nano- and biotech-nology exhibition)	225

2.2. Treatment (studies 2 and 3)

Studies two and three involved a treatment in the shape of an interpretative text describing two opposing positions on the topic of biomimetics. This text was integrated into an existing exhibition with a fitting theme and content. In addition to a written or 'visual' version of the text, study three also involved an audio version. The visual version of the text in studies one and two was displayed on a touchscreen, whereas the audio version in study three was provided via an MP3 player with circumaural headphones. Participants in study three were assigned to either of the two information conditions. The text contained a balanced view of the potential risks and benefits of biomimetics and its products. After a short general introduction explaining biomimetics, the first part of the text highlights benefits, which are challenged by the second part of the text describing (potential) risks. To ensure balance, the number, length, and difficulty of words and sentences used in each part of the text (risks/benefits) was comparable (text length: 234 words). The text drew on information from a publication by the German Office of Technology Assessment (Oertel & Grunwald, 2006) and was developed with the help of two curators. All participants were facing the same nanotechnology and biotechnology products showcase. Contrary to the typical object-centred museum situation, the objects did not play a crucial role in this study. The showcase contained a collection of available products that rely on biomimetical principles or design, and mainly served the purpose of drawing the visitors' attention without evoking conflicting thoughts about the topic. In

other words, the objects served as neutral anchors for the topic of biomimetics but did not match the text in terms of a depiction of risks and benefits. A direct translation of the text can be found in the appendix of study three.

2.3. Instruments and variables

In all three studies the survey instrumentation consisted of a questionnaire containing various scales and items, most of them closed questions, some open-ended questions. To measure participants' visit motivation in study two, we applied our own visit motivation short scale that was developed and described in study one. The scale contains 17 items, which fall into six categories (see table two, section 3.1). The reliabilities we found when applying the scale in study two (in a nano- and biotechnology exhibition) are described in manuscript two¹. Study two further included the variables visit strategy, visit company, visit frequency, interest in natural science, interest in biomimetics, cognitive and scientific self-efficacy, need for cognition and epistemic beliefs. Study three included the variables prior knowledge, attitude toward biomimetics, attitudinal certainty, attitudinal importance and attitudinal ambivalence. For a more detailed description of the scales used in the studies two and three and their reliabilities, I refer to the original papers. Unless stated otherwise, answers were given on a Likert-type scale from 1 (not at all) to 5 (very). Original items as used in the studies were in German.

2.4. Data analysis

Different strategies and research questions called for different statistical methods to be applied in the three studies. As the first manuscript concerned itself first and foremost with the development of a short scale, the statistical method included a series of exploratory factor analyses (EFA) with robust maximum likelihood (ML) estimation and oblique geomin rotation and the optimal shortening procedure following Raykov, Rodenberg and Narayanan (2015). To test if the scale allows for valid comparisons across sites, the scale's measurement invariance and scalar invariance was investigated using multigroup confirmatory factor analysis with stepwise imposing invariance restrictions. Finally, to test latent mean differences across the three sites, we used the multiple-group factor analysis alignment procedure. A more detailed description of the statistical approach can be found in the original paper (study one).

-

¹ The wording of one of the (German) PS Items used in study two ('because I wanted to be able to say I'd been there') slightly deviated from that in study one.

The second study had two aims. The first was to look for associations between six visit motivation categories and a variety of other personal characteristics. For correlations between visit motivation and the ordinal variables (visit strategy and visit frequency), we calculated a Spearman's rank correlation (two-tailed). For the interval variables (interest in natural science, need for cognition and cognitive and scientific self-efficacy) we calculated a Pearson product-moment correlation (two-tailed). We drew on Cohen's standard for social sciences to classify correlation results into small, medium and large (Cohen, 1992). For the nominal variable visit company, we calculated independent t-tests to look for differences in the visit motivation category means based on company. The second aim of the study was to calculate the extent to which a selection of personal context variables can predict visitors' level of text processing in the museum. For this, we carried out a multiple linear regression analysis with three models. The first model served as a 'base line' and only contained sociodemographic variables. The second additionally included a combination of other personal characteristics and the third added visit motivation. Following Field (2005), we deliberately added the personal characteristics before visit motivation, as we had more reason to assume these to be relevant predictors of participants' text comprehension when processing a risk-benefit science text in the museum. For the third study we compared participants' average attitude levels before and after reading that same museum text. We calculated a dependent t-test and Cohen's d for effect size (Cohen, 1992). Additionally, a multiple linear regression analysis was used to calculate whether text modality (visual and auditory text) in combination with prior knowledge, certainty, attitudinal importance and attitudinal ambivalence significantly predicted participants' attitude change.

3. Study summaries

This section provides summaries of the two papers and the one manuscript this thesis is based on, with an emphasis on findings relating to this thesis' research questions.

3.1. Study 1: Phelan, S., Bauer, J., & Lewalter, D. (2018). Visit motivations: development of a short scale for comparison across sites. *Museum Management and Curatorship*, 33(1), 25–41.

Research questions:

- 1. Is there a common core of visit motivations across educational leisure settings?
- 2. Do science museum visitors' average (latent mean) motivation scores differ from those for visitors to an art museum and a zoo?

This paper describes the development of an instrument to measure and compare people's motivations for visiting different educational leisure settings (ELS). Visit motivations are a long-lasting research focus and have been linked to various aspects of visit experience and learning outcome (Falk, 2009; Falk, Moussouri, & Coulson 1998; Hood, 1983; Packer & Ballantyne, 2002; Pekarik & Schreiber, 2012). Previous visit motivation studies conducted in different settings and based on different theoretical frameworks have led to different models and instruments. Perhaps not surprisingly, they have resulted in a variety of visit motivation categorisations. Nevertheless, when taking a closer look, there is substantial overlap in the visit motivation categories found in these studies. This suggests that there may be a common core of visit motivation dimensions across ELS. However, the lack of an instrument offering a reasonable degree of measurement invariance to use across sites has challenged attempts to make valid comparisons across different types of ELS. For this reason we set out to develop a short visit motivation scale that captures main visit motivation categories and enables quick and valid comparisons of visit motivations across ELS. In order to achieve this, we collected data in a science museum, an art museum and a zoo, all located in Munich. As a basis for our instrument, we drew on items from Falk's identity-related visitor motivation model (Falk, 2006, 2009) and Packer's motivational factors (Packer, 2004; Packer & Ballantyne, 2002) as they cover a wide range of motivational aspects and have already been used to study and compare visit motivations over different types of ELS. Following statistical strategies described in the methods section above, we succeeded in developing a 17-item short scale that captures six theoretically important visit motivation dimensions with sufficient reliability (ρ .65 < .85). Further analysis of this final short scale shows configural, metric and

approximate scalar invariance, indicating that the dimensions of visit motivation can be interpreted as virtually equivalent and that latent means of the visit motivation dimensions can be meaningfully compared across different ELS. The common core of visit motivation dimensions we found in the different ELS are: *learning and pursuing interests* (LI), *relaxation and recuperation* (RR), *social learning* (SL), *social enjoyment* (SE), *establishing social contacts* (SC) and *popularity of the site* (PS). Table two shows the items belonging to each of these categories. Descriptive item statistics and standardised factor loadings can be found in the original paper (see appendix).

When comparing latent factor means for the science museum with the two other sites, we found a number of statistically significant differences. First of all, LI was rated as more important in the science museum than in the zoo. Furthermore, RR and two of the social visit motivation categories, SL and SE, were more pronounced in the zoo than in science and the art museum. Additionally, SL and SC were more pronounced in the science museum compared to the art museum. For PS we did not find any statistically significant differences. In the discussion we suggest that the instrument offers new opportunities by allowing researchers and museum practitioners to quickly, validly and reliably measure visit motivations within and across ELS. As each site has its own affordances, combining data across different ELS can provide valuable insights into the broader workings of visit motivation.

Table 2: Items belonging to the six visit motivation categories

Item	VM category
1. to broaden my horizons	LI
2. to be better informed	LI
3. to deepen my areas of interest	LI
4. to learn something new	LI
5. to relax	RR
6. to switch off for a while	RR
7. to recuperate	RR
8. because I like to support my child(ren) / companion(s) with their learning	SL
9. because my family/friends learn things here they can't learn elsewhere	SL
10. to do something nice together	SE
11. to spend time with my companion(s)	SE
12. to have a nice time	SE

13. to connect with others	SC
14. to meet new people	SC
15. because I wanted to be able to say I'd been there	PS
16. because I heard this is a great museum / zoo /	PS
17. because this museum/zoo/ is a tourist attraction	PS

Note: LI = learning and pursuing interests, RR = relaxation and recuperation, SL = social learning, SE = social enjoyment, SC = establishing social contacts and PS = popularity of the site

3.2. Study 2: Phelan, S., Specht, I., & Lewalter, D. (2018). Visit motivation, visitor characteristics and text comprehension in a science museum. Manuscript submitted for publication.

Research questions:

- 3. What are associations between our six visit motivation categories (LI, RR, SL, SE, SC and PS) and visit company, visit strategy, visit frequency, interest in natural science, need for cognition, cognitive self-efficacy and scientific self-efficacy?
- 4. To what extent do the personal characteristics listed under 3, together with topicspecific interest and epistemic beliefs, predict how well visitors process a risk benefit museum text?

The second paper applies the visit motivation short scale described in study one in a nano- and biotechnology exhibition. A first aim of the study was to explore how visit motivation is embedded into visitors' broader background. We concentrated on a small and specific part of visitors' personal context based on existing studies, and focusing on motivation and museum learning. We included the visit attributes visit company, visit strategy and visit frequency, as well as the personal characteristics interest in natural science, cognitive self-efficacy, scientific self-efficacy and need for cognition. In our study, visit company tells us whether the museum visitor was visiting alone or accompanied by one or more adults or children. Visit strategy, following Falk, Moussouri, and Coulson (1998), captures the degree to which the visit was 'focused' or planned, while visit frequency tells us how often the visitor has previously visited the Deutsches Museum (never, 'once or twice', 'several times' or 'often'). Visit strategy and visit company were included based on findings in previous studies (Falk et al., 1998; Packer & Ballantyne, 2005). The variables interest, self-efficacy and need for cognition were chosen as (comparatively) stable personal characteristics that may be related to one or more of the situational visit motivation categories. Results regarding visit company show that solitary

visitors scored the visit motivation category learning and pursuing interests (LI) significantly higher and both social learning (SL) and social enjoyment (SE) significantly lower than those with company. When comparing visitors accompanied by one or more children (regardless of whether they were visiting alone or with other adults) to those without children company, we find that visitors with accompanying children scored SL significantly higher. For visit strategy we found a small positive correlation with the visit motivation LI, whereas visit frequency was positively correlated with social learning and negatively correlated with popularity of the site (PS). For the personal characteristics, we only found correlations with two of our six visit motivation categories. For SL we found a small positive correlation with interest in natural science, suggesting one's own enthusiasm for a topic coincides with a motivation to foster science learning in others. For LI we found small to medium positive correlations with participants' interest in natural science, their cognitive self-efficacy and their scientific self-efficacy. The various correlations we found confirm previous findings and also provide new insights, as will be discussed in section 4.2. Of special interest are the correlations we found with the visit motivation category LI.

A second aim of the study was to explore the potential influence of visitors' personal context on museum learning, using the example of on-site processing of a risk-benefit museum text on the topic of biomimetics. For this analysis, we included the four personal characteristics mentioned above and two additional characteristics: topic-specific interest and epistemic beliefs. Topic-specific interest was included because our initial interest scale (interest in the domain of natural science) was not accurate enough for the specific example of a text on biomimetics. We included epistemic beliefs as we assumed these could play a role in processing this particular text as described in section 1.3. We also added the sociodemographic variables age, gender and level of education as they are central to the visitor's personal context and to most visitor studies. Whether visit motivation itself can also influence such a specific example of museum learning is unknown and formed a question we hoped to shed some light on in this study. We found that the regression model involving all variables explained respectively 27% and 29% of the variance of the two types of coherence formation measured in our study (see study two for more detail). For the more basic coherence formation within each position (risk or benefits), level of education and need for cognition were the only two significant predictors with respective increases of .24 and .62 in participants' coherence formation. For coherence formation between the two positions, interest in natural science, cognitive self-efficacy and SL were significant predictors with a decrease of .64, an increase of .52 and a decrease of .23, respectively. The results are discussed in chapter four.

Study 3: Phelan, S., Specht, I., Schnotz, W., & Lewalter, D. (2017). Attitude change when presenting science museum visitors with risk-benefit information. *Science Education*, 101(6), 873–886.

Research questions:

- 5. Can processing a risk-benefit museum text lead to an average attitude change in visitors toward the topic being presented?
- 6. To what extent do the different dimensions of attitude strength (prior knowledge, attitudinal certainty, attitudinal importance, and attitudinal ambivalence) predict visitors' average attitude change after processing risk-benefit museum text?

Although many contemporary science museums actively aim to support visitors' attitude formation and change (Bell, 2008; Cameron, 2005; Deutsches Museum, n.d.; Hooper-Greenhil, 2007; Mazda, 2004; Serrell, 2015), there is very little empirical evidence of museum visits influencing visitors' attitudes. Drawing on a dual-positional museum text presenting risks and benefits of biomimetics with visual and auditory text as information conditions, this third paper investigated if risk-benefit information can on average lead museum visitors to change their attitudes. The study also explored whether participants' attitude change can be predicted based on presentation modality on the one hand and visitors' personal attitudinal background on the other. To measure visitors' initial attitude, four dimensions of their initial attitude strength were measured: prior topic-specific knowledge, attitudinal certainty, attitudinal importance, and attitudinal ambivalence. These four dimensions of prior attitude are all known to play a role in attitude change, and we postulated ambivalence to be particularly relevant for the focus of the paper (see section 1.3.2). When looking at visitors' attitude change, descriptively we found that of a total of 113 participants who read the text, 49 (43%) reported a less positive attitude after reading, 32 (28%) reported a more positive attitude, and 32 (28%) showed no change in attitude. Of the 112 participants who listened to the text via an audio guide, 43 (38%) reported a less positive attitude after listening, 26 (23%) reported a more positive attitude, and 43 (38%) demonstrated no attitude change. On average, before information, participants showed a very positive average attitude toward biomimetics. After information, we find a small but significantly less positive average attitude toward biomimetics as compared to before, albeit with a small effect size. When looking at each presentation modality separately, a significant average attitude change was found for visitors reading the text, but not for those listening to the text (see study three for more detail). This

suggests that the visual presentation modality had a more pronounced influence on attitude. To answer the second research question, results indicate that the different dimensions of attitude strength together explained 8% of the variance, but only ambivalence added statistically significantly to the prediction. Overall, our findings suggest that risk—benefit information can on average change visitors' attitudes and that prior attitudinal ambivalence can influence that change. The study and analyses presented in this paper are preliminary and have some important limitations, as discussed in the original manuscript and in chapter four, below.

4. Discussion

In this final section I will discuss some of the findings and limitations of each of the studies presented in this thesis, first separately and then together. The first part of the discussion is by no means exhaustive, but instead serves to highlight findings in each article that fit with the focus of this dissertation. For a more extensive discussion of the findings, limitations and implications for each of the individual studies, I refer to the original papers. In the second part of this discussion, I take a step back and discuss the three studies on a metalevel, referring back to the theoretical framework presented in the introduction, critically reviewing our methodology and suggesting future study focuses.

4.1. Study 1

The rationale behind study one was both pragmatic and theoretical. We decided to study visit motivation as part of the larger research project briefly described at the very start of this thesis. For that purpose, I vainly searched for a German visit motivation instrument and soon realised we had to develop our own based on foreign instruments. During my review of the visit motivation literature, I noticed a considerable overlap in the many visit motivation categories described in various studies. Interestingly, some researchers suggested their categories should hold for different settings, whereas other indicated that theirs are likely site-specific. This led me to wonder if there is a common core of visit motivations across educational leisure settings. Findings in study one suggest that there is indeed. We found a common core of six visit motivation dimensions that can be interpreted equally across three very different educational leisure settings. I'd like to stress here that the description 'a common core' does not exclude additional categories that may be found in specific settings and not in others. It does, however, give us a set of visit motivations that are (apparently) central to most educational leisure settings, which warrants comparisons of visit motivation means across sites. The visit motivation short scale we were able to develop showed sufficient reliability and measurement invariance to validly make such comparisons. In our paper we express our wish to share our instrument and describe how the field can benefit from opportunities the instrument offers. Conversely, there are ways in which the instrument can benefit from future studies. A personal point of criticism in study one is the fact that we based our short scale solely on existing instruments. We would have liked to have complemented our instrument development process with our own qualitative research, but time and resource constraints of the larger research project did not allow for it. So, although we started our study with a

very large and broad item-base, we cannot rule out that there are further core visit motivation dimensions that our instrument does not capture. We therefore welcome any future research that can confirm, complement or contradict our result of a common core of six visit motivation dimensions across educational leisure settings. That being said, the six visit motivation categories we found and the visit motivation short scale we were able to develop, offer exciting prospects for future studies on visit motivation, both across and within sites. Applying the instrument in studies across sites will contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of the role visit motivation plays in educational leisure settings such as museums. When we compared latent means for science museum visitors with those visiting an art museum and a zoo, we found several significant differences in visit motivation means between the science museum and the other two educational leisure settings (see section 3.1). One of these differences is the observation that science museum visitors score the visit motivation category 'learning and pursuing interests' higher than visitors to an art museum and significantly higher than visitors to a zoo, which brings us to the following study.

4.2. Study 2

In study two we applied the visit motivation short scale in a specific (contemporary) science and technology exhibition to investigate how visit motivation is embedded into visitors' broader personal context and how visitors' broader personal, motivational context influences on-site text processing. Results found when looking at differences in visit motivation based on visit company, substantiates some of our social visit motivation categories. For example, we found that visitors accompanied by one or more children scored social learning significantly higher than those who did not have children with them. That social learning and social enjoyment received significantly lower scores from solitary visitors compared to visitors with company, is similarly plausible and is in line with earlier findings (Packer & Ballantyne, 2005). Interestingly, solitary visitors also scored learning and pursuing interests (LI) higher than those with company. This slightly deviates from Packer and Ballantyne's (2005) previous findings. They found that solitary visitors score higher on their visit motivation category 'Understanding', but not on 'Learning and Discovery', which is closer to our LI category. Taken together however, these findings suggest that solitary visitors are more inclined to have a 'cognitive' visit motivation than those with company. Results in study two unveil more interesting insights into the visit motivation category LI. For example, we found a positive correlation with the degree to which the visit was planned (i.e. focused, cf. Falk et al., 1998). As it has been suggested that visit strategy and visit motivation are two dimensions of visitor agenda (Falk et al., 1998) it is exciting to find a correlation, albeit for only one of our visit motivation categories (LI).

Staying with the category LI, study two also shows small to moderate positive correlations with participants' interest in natural science, their cognitive self-efficacy and their scientific self-efficacy. In other words, the higher visitors' interest in natural science and the more confident they are in their ability to deal with scientific topics and incorporate new information into existing knowledge structures, the higher they rated learning and pursuing interest as their motivation for visiting. As described in section 1.2, various researchers describe visit motivation as something (e.g. an 'itinerary' or 'framework') reflecting a compilation of personal and socio-cultural background variables (Doering & Pekarik, 1996; MacDonald, 1995). Falk (2006, 2009) suggests that the various individual elements of a visitor's personal background yield a specific motivation. Although our findings don't disclose causality, we do find that personal interest in science and feeling capable of dealing with science topics and of rethinking existing notions based on new information, are some of the more stable elements of a personal background positively linked to the situational motivation LI when visiting a science museum. This is a first step in linking visit motivation to underlying elements of the personal context. Interestingly, we did not find a significant correlation between LI and need for cognition. However, Jan Packer (2004) did not find a correlation between need for cognition and her visit motivation subscale learning and discovery goals either. She argues that need for cognition plays an important role in cognitively demanding tasks, "thus limiting its relevance in educational learning settings, where visitors seek tasks that are perceived to be effortless" (Packer, 2004, p. 189; Packer, 2006). Following that, it is not surprising that in this same study need for cognition did turn out to be a significant predictor for the cognitively rather demanding task of processing a risk-benefit science text. As described in section 3.2, apart from looking at the embeddedness of visit motivation in a wider personal context, we also examined how well our selection of personal context variables can predict visitors' text comprehension when processing a risk-benefit science text. Although these variables together explained a relatively large amount of variance, we found little to no influence of visit motivation on visitors' text comprehension. Besides need for cognition, we found level of education to be a significant positive predictor for the more 'basic' text comprehension task of drawing inferences within each position (risk and benefit) presented in the text. For the more specific task of integrating information across both positions, visitors' cognitive self-efficacy (in our case focussing on one's ability to adjust one's own position on a topic when presented with good alternatives) proved to be a significant predictor. In addition to that, interest in natural science and the visit motivation category social learning turned out to be significant negative predictors. That interest in natural science turned out to be a negative predictor for inter-positional coherence formation is unexpected. The topic of the text may have been too specific and may not have formed

part of most visitors' general interest in science. Although we only approached visitors who were browsing the 'relevant' part of the exhibition, our participants were asked to look at the small section directly pertaining to our study. In other words, we don't know if all participants would have read the text on their own account, which is why we included topic specific interest in this part of our analysis. However, we did not find a negative influence for topic interest, nor a positive one for that matter, so these findings remain difficult to interpret. Another somewhat unexpected finding is social learning being a negative predictor for text comprehension. Although we can speculate on underlying reasons, additional research is need to confirm or reject this finding, as I will explain in section 4.4. Nevertheless, results in study two do give a tentative insight into the way a set of situational and more stable personal variables come together and suggest that the interplay between such variables can help predict a visitor's text comprehension in a science museum. Study three takes our analysis a step further by investigating if the same risk—benefit museum text can lead to a change in visitors' attitude towards the topic of the text.

4.3. Study 3

Staying with the example of processing a risk-benefit museum text, study three tentatively explores attitude change in a science museum in a quantitative way. With our study, we hoped to find empirical evidence of a museum visit influencing visitors' attitudes. Somewhat to our surprise, we found that more than two-thirds of the visitors participating in our study indeed showed some change in their attitude on a specific topic after processing a risk-benefit museum text. We also found an average change to a significantly less positive attitude toward biomimetics after to processing the text. Visitors' positive prior attitude fits with the general way the specific topic had been covered in the German media (Oertel & Grunwald, 2006). An explanation for the average change towards a more negative attitude could be a dominant influence of the attitude-incongruent information within our risk-benefit text (i.e. for the majority of participants, the risks) on visitors' attitudes (Van Dijk, Fischer, De Jonge, Rowe, & Frewer, 2012). However, future studies are needed to support this and to further explore how various museum contents touch different ends of the elaboration continuum and affect different aspects of visitors' attitudes. Further research is also needed to establish which (additional) variables can have a significant and meaningful influence on attitude change in the museum. However, results do hint toward the potential influence even a single museum text can have on visitors' attitudes and on the role a visitors' background in terms of the strength of their initial attitude can play when dealing with risk-benefit information. On a general note, a

better understanding of how visitors' prior attitude influences their perception of controversial, conflicting information in the museum should help explain some of the 'unexpected' visitor feedback (cf. Mazda, 2004). Mazda discusses some of the struggles he encountered during seven years of experience in engagement with controversy in the science museum in London. He describes different attempts at achieving a neutral exhibition and argues: "It is not surprising that visitors almost always view an exhibition on controversy to be biased. If the topic covered in the exhibition is truly controversial, visitors will color their perception of the exhibition by their personal views" (Mazda, 2004, p. 141). Of course, personal views will generally colour visitors' information processing, even for less controversial topics, as our results suggest. However, for the challenge curators face when presenting controversial topics in an objective or persuasive (e.g. deliberately biased) way, understanding their visitors' prior attitudes towards the topic at hand would indeed be a crucial starting point. This would ideally involve a broader look at different elements of visitors' prior attitudes, in particular attitudinal ambivalence as our results suggest.

4.4. General discussion

With the studies described in this thesis I explore the relevance of visitors' personal context for learning outcomes in a science museum. The personal context in this case is captured by a small selection of visitors' characteristics with a main focus on visit motivation. Learning outcomes are exemplified by text comprehension and attitude change, which serve as concrete examples of aspects of museum learning. Although these are only two examples out of the wide array of generic learning outcomes (GLO; Hooper-Greenhill, 2007), they were carefully chosen. Firstly, interpretive texts play a crucial role in museum learning by providing context and background information and thus enabling or increasing visitors' understanding of the objects on display (Screven, 1992; Serrell, 2015; Schwan et al., 2018). And, as mentioned in the theoretical section of this thesis (see 1.3), processing conflicting science information is not an uncommon task for visitors to a contemporary science exhibition (Cameron, 2005; Dorfman, 2018; Mazda, 2004). Mazda (2004) argues that museums present different positions in an attempt to present a more balanced view, in line with their aim to 'objectively' support visitors' opinion formation. Encouraging visitors to form or adjust their opinion is a central aim for many museums, especially for exhibitions dealing with contemporary science and research, as explained in section 1.1.2.

Attempting to understand and describe any form of learning in museums requires a broad view (and lots of time and energy). As described in section 1.1, the Contextual Model of

Learning (Falk & Dierking, 2013), which is based on the educational theory of constructivism, attempts to capture the complexity of museum learning. When placing this thesis in the framework of the CML, it is clear the three studies only cover a small slice of the three contexts. With visit motivation in studies one and two, interest, self-efficacy, need for cognition, epistemic beliefs in study two and attitude in study three, I explore small sections of the personal context. In a way, with visitors' average attitude towards the specific topic of biomimetics, which has a certain positive association in German media, as Oertel and Grunwald (2006) suggest, as well as with visit company in study two, we also touch upon the sociocultural context (Falk & Dierking, 2013; Oertel & Grunwald, 2006; Packer & Ballantyne, 2005). And our comparison of two presentation modalities in study three fall under the physical context. However, the main focus is on (part of the) personal context and properly investigating all three contexts belonging to the CML reached beyond the aim and scope of the individual studies. Another element of the CML that our studies were not designed to capture is its aspect of time. The CML poses that true 'learning' begins before and continues after the visit. Two of the studies presented in this thesis include aspects of museum learning that were only measured on-site. In study two we measured visitors' text comprehension and in study three attitude change, in both cases immediately after processing a museum text. We should be careful in labelling these learning outcomes as a visit outcome implies something that extends beyond the actual visit, and outcome in the longer term may differ from short-term outcome (Rennie & Johnston, 2007). However, short-term learning is at the very least a prerequisite, and in many cases a good indicator, for longer-term outcomes (Ballantyne, Packer, & Falk, 2011). Participants in study two read a specific museum text and filled out an inference recognition test after reading. Although this test may be too linear and reductionist for museum learning from a constructivist perspective (Falk & Storksdieck, 2005; Hein & Alexander, 1998), it did enable us to measure individual visitors' levels of text comprehension. This is a pragmatic and necessary approach when studying learning empirically. Also, our approach and choice of treatment in studies two and three allowed us to control certain situational factors and limit the number of confounding variables. Moreover, we believe our inference recognition test is a valid way of measuring learning. As Kintsch stated in his award address on text comprehension, memory and learning: "A typical case of learning from a text would be [...] a subject answering inference questions after reading a text" (Kintsch, 1994, p. 294), which is how our test was designed (see study two). Additionally, by investigating attitude change in study three, we show that understanding this text led to some form of change in their attitude for more than twothirds of our participants and to a small but significant positive average change in attitude after processing the text compared to before. So, although we did not include longerterm outcomes in our studies, we can say that our findings on on-site learning show some surprising and promising indications of (short-term and potential longer-term) learning. On a different critical note though, our focus on text can be seen as a 'reverse' way of approaching museum learning. In the museum, objects and images take centre stage, with accompanying texts serving to support interpretation (Glaser & Schwan, 2015). From a museum learning perspective, measuring how well the object is remembered is at least as important as visitors' memory of the accompanying text (Schwan et al., 2018) and future studies should take this into consideration.

Studies two and three explore the extent to which a specific part of visitors' personal context can predict their comprehension of the text and their attitude change respectively. Study three focused on the personal context variables prior topic-specific knowledge, attitudinal certainty, attitudinal importance, and attitudinal ambivalence and found that only the latter formed a significant predictor for attitude change. In study two our main focus was on visit motivation, but we also explored interest, self-efficacy, need for cognition and epistemic beliefs because of to their expected influence on processing a risk-benefit science text. Prior studies have shown that visit motivation can shape the course of museum visits (Falk & Dierking, 2013) and influence visit outcome from an educational perspective (Packer & Ballantyne, 2002). However, that we find little to no influence of visit motivation on visitors' text comprehension is not surprising. To find an influence of visit motivation on such a small and extremely specific aspect of a visitor's learning experience is unlikely. One could argue that the motivation learning and pursuing interests may be a positive predictor for museum learning in general and that this would include text comprehension. However, our study only involved one specific text in one specific exhibition and one specific measure. Obviously, for most visitors, regardless of their visit motivation, processing this one particular text will not capture their museum learning experience. As Falk (2007) suggests, a longitudinal, more holistic approach is needed to investigate the influence of visit motivation on museum learning. The same holds for measuring attitude change in the museum. Due to the fact that we only included one text on one specific topic, our regression models in studies two and three do not lend themselves for further generalisation on text comprehension and attitude change in the museum. Additional studies are needed to further explore if and how different types of museum content influence visitors' attitudes and to determine the impact of visit motivation on text comprehension and other aspects of museum learning.

Our arguably 'narrow' perspective on learning is another point of personal criticism. All three manuscripts take an educational perspective, either by approaching the museum as an educational leisure setting or by directly investigating museum learning. Looking at the GLO, learning outcomes encompass more than text comprehension and attitude change (Hooper-Greenhill, 2007). Somewhat ironically, the thesis starts with a description of a common core of visitors' own motivations for visiting, only two of which directly include learning. By focusing on learning as information processing in studies one and two we lose track of other motivations and potential outcomes, such as (social) enjoyment for example, which is also one of the generic learning outcomes (Hooper-Greenhill, 2007).² According to Black (2005), a focus on learning is a limited view on visit motivation that is often seen in museum research as opposed to the field of leisure and tourism, which takes a wider perspective. The personal characteristics included in study two were chosen based on broader motivational theories and because of their expected relevance for processing a (risk-benefit) science text. Conceivably because of this focus on learning, we found several correlations between these personal characteristics and the visit motivation learning and pursuing interests, and one between interest and social learning, but none with the other visit motivation categories. In other words, we did not gain much insight into some of our less 'cognitively' oriented visit motivation categories, which are likely to relate to a very different set of personal characteristics. Visit motivations revolving around social interaction, having fun, or recuperation for example, are just as central to museum visits. A better understanding of how visit motivation is embedded in a visitor's wider personal context therefore calls for an investigation of a wider range of personal and situational characteristics. As for attitudes, our educational focus led us to embrace the cognitive and neglect the affective component of attitudes. The Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM; Petty & Cacioppo, 1986) posits that both affective and cognitive information processing can lead to a change in attitude, and information processing in the museum indeed covers the entire spectrum of the elaboration continuum (Webb, 1997). Exhibitions with truly controversial themes often contain powerful images, leading to strong affective responses in visitors, which we necessarily missed out on in study three due to its focus on text. Future studies are needed to further explore how a wider array of museum content touches different ends of the elaboration continuum and affects different aspects of visitors' attitudes.

Our study's strong focus on text, though leading to certain limitations from a museum research perspective, does pave the way for a transfer of our findings to other areas of research. Short texts dealing with opposing positions or risk-benefit information are not limited to the museum context. On the internet for example, people regularly encounter such texts, and here too such texts are read because people are interested in the topic

_

² Note: considering 'enjoyment' a separate part of museum learning is disputed by Packer (2006), who argues that it in the museum context, enjoyment or 'fun' is inseparable from learning.

or because the information or an accompanying image drew their attention. Especially for socially relevant topics such as nano- and biotechnology, which are key technologies of the 21st century and often publicly discussed, it is important to find out more about how the general public forms and changes their attitudes (Fischer et al., 2013). Furthermore, our findings also have merit beyond *informal* learning. SDT "differentiates types of motivation along a continuum from controlled to autonomous" (Ryan & Deci, 2017a, p. 3). As high-quality (i.e. more intrinsic) motivation has clear benefits for school settings (Reeve et al., 2008), studying peoples text comprehension in a free-choice setting and looking at the role a broader motivational context can play in this, offer valuable insights for formal learning settings too. Taken together, our findings from studies two and three therefore make a small but valuable contribution to a more general understanding of the role of personal characteristics when dealing with risk—benefit information, and on the development of public attitudes toward nanotechnology-related topics that reaches beyond the field of museum research.

Finally, it is worth noting that the three studies offer some useful implications for the museum practice and suggestions for further research. For example, results in study two on differences in visit motivation categories based on visit company confirm and directly add to previous findings. The same goes for the relationships between visit motivation and visit strategy. To my knowledge, the theoretical link between these two has thus far not been corroborated by empirical evidence. Also in study two, by finding out about the relationship between the situational visit motivation categories such as LI with some of its stable 'counterparts' such as interest in science (in the case of a science museum) and need for cognition, we take a first tentative step towards identifying potential antecedents and consequences in the personal context. To investigate these relationships in a more ecologically valid way, future studies could take a combined look at these personal context variables in the shape of visitor profiles (Lewalter et al., 2015; Falk & Storksdieck, 2005). The correlations we found already give some insight into the complexity of a system with the "abundance of factors that influence learning in and from the museum." (Falk, 2007, p. 6). Knowing that texts play an important role in museum learning and that different visitors process information in different ways, study two further contributes by identifying a handful of personal and motivational characteristics that can positively and negatively influence text comprehension. While there are undoubtedly countless other aspects of a visitor's personal background involved in text processing in the museum, our small selection of personal characteristics in study two was able to explain over a quarter of the variance in visitors' text comprehension, suggesting these are indeed important elements for text-based learning in the museum. Although we need to be cautious in generalising our findings, our results at the very least offer a starting point for future visitor studies. A more concrete implication for practice can be found in study three. Against expectations based on previous studies (Mayer & Moreno, 1998; Schwan et al., 2018) the third study tentatively suggest that written text (as opposed to the audio version) may be more suitable in the specific case of conveying complex, conflicting science topics. A possible explanation is the fact that this modality allows for self-paced learning and rereading of complicated or confusing passages (cf. Kürschner, Schnotz, & Eid, 2007). Finally, it is certainly interesting and perhaps reassuring for museum professionals to find that even a single museum text on a mildly controversial topic can lead to changes in visitors' attitudes as results in study three indicate. Considering that even such a small and concrete part of a visit experience can have a measurable effect on short-term outcome, we can only imagine the vast array of (measurable) learning outcomes resulting from all the encounters and interactions with objects, texts and other people during a museum visit. With this in mind, the findings presented in this thesis will hopefully inspire others to continue where we left off. The visit motivation short scale we developed and presented in study one should contribute to that by facilitating a quick and valid measurement of visit motivation within and across museums.

In conclusion, the choices and limitations discussed in this section are of course challenges many museum researchers are confronted with. Thankfully our individual publications, each with their own specific focus, together form pieces of a larger puzzle of an ongoing, joint, international research effort (Hohenstein & Moussouri, 2018). In a current long-term visitor study, my colleagues and I are already building upon previous findings and conclusions, developing new instruments and continuing to contribute small pieces to the larger puzzle of museum learning.

References

- Allen, S. (2004). Designs for learning: Studying science museum exhibits that do more than entertain. *Science Education*, 88(1), 17–33.
- Bell, L. (2008). Engaging the public in technology policy: A new role for science museums. *Science Communication*, *29*(3), 386–398.
- Bell, P., Lewenstein, B., Shouse, A., & Feder, M. (Eds.) (2009). Learning science in informal environments: People, places and pursuits. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Ballantyne, R., Packer, J., & Falk, J. (2011). Visitors' learning for environmental sustainability: Testing short-and long-term impacts of wildlife tourism experiences using structural equation modelling. *Tourism Management*, 32(6), 1243–1252.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, *84*(2), 191-215.
- Bergman, M. M. (1998). A theoretical note on the differences between attitudes, opinions, and values. *Swiss Political Science Review*, *4*(2), 81–93.
- Black, G. (2005). *The Engaging Museum. Developing Museums for Visitor Involvement.* Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Bråten, I., Ferguson, L. E., Anmarkrud, Ø., & Strømsø, H. I. (2013). Prediction of learning and comprehension when adolescents read multiple texts: The roles of word-level processing, strategic approach, and reading motivation. *Reading and Writing*, *26*(3), 321–348.
- Bråten, I., & Braasch, J. L. (2018). The role of conflict in multiple source use. In J. L. G. Braasch, I. Bråten, & M. T. McCrudden (Eds.), *Handbook of multiple source use*, (pp 184–201). Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Britt, M. A., Richter, T., & Rouet, J. F. (2014). Scientific literacy: The role of goal-directed reading and evaluation in understanding scientific information. *Educational Psychologist*, 49(2), 104–122.
- Brossard, D., Lewenstein, B., & Bonney, R. (2005). Scientific knowledge and attitude change: The impact of a citizen science project. *International Journal of Science Education*, *27*(9), 1099–1121.
- Bromme, R., & Kienhues, D. (2014). Wissenschaftsverständnis und Wissenschaftskommunikation. In T. Seidel, & A. Krapp (Eds.), *Pädagogische Psychologie* (pp. 55–79). Weinheim, Germany: Beltz.
- Cacioppo, J.T. & Petty, R.E. (1982). The need for cognition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *42*(1), 116–131.
- Cacioppo, J. T., Petty, R. E., Feinstein, J. A., & Jarvis, W. B. G. (1996). Dispositional differences in cognitive motivation: The life and times of individuals varying in need for cognition. *Psychological Bulletin*, *119*(2), 197–253.
- Cameron, F. (2005). Contentiousness and shifting knowledge paradigms: The roles of history and science museums in contemporary societies. *Museum Management and Curatorship*, 20(3), 213–233.
- Chittenden, D. (2011). Commentary: Roles, opportunities, and challenges—science museums engaging the public in emerging science and technology. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research*, *13*(4), 1549-1556.

- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, 112(1), 155–159.
- Conley, A. E., Pintrich, P. R., Vekiri, I., & Harrison, D. (2004). Changes in epistemological beliefs in elementary science students. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 29, 186–204.
- Conner, M., & Armitage, C. J. (2008). Attitudinal ambivalence. In W. D. Crano, & R. Prislin (Eds.), *Attitudes and Attitude Change* (pp. 261–288). New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Hermanson, K. (1995). What makes visitors want to learn? Intrinsic motivation in museums. *Museum News*, 74(3), 34–37.
- Danks, J. H., & End, L. J. (1987). Processing strategies for reading and listening. In R. Horowitz, & S. J. Samuels (Eds.), Comprehending oral and written language (pp. 271–294). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Dascal, M. (1998). The study of controversies and the theory and history of science. *Science in Context*, 11(2), 147–154.
- Dawid, E., & Schlesinger, R. (2002). Zwischen Dogma und Häresie–Texte im Museum pro und contra. In E. Dawid, & R. Schlesinger (Eds.) *Texte in Museen und Ausstellungen, Ein Praxisleitfaden* (pp.7–25). Bielefeld, Germany: transcript Verlag.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2000). The" what" and" why" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychological Inquiry*, *11*(4), 227–268.
- Delicado, A. (2009). Scientific controversies in museums: notes from a semi-peripheral country. *Public Understanding of Science*, *18*(6), 759–767.
- De Liver, Y., Van der Pligt, J., & Wigboldus, D. (2007). Positive and negative associations underlying ambivalent attitudes. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 43(2), 319–326.
- Deutsches Museum (n.d.). *Mission*. Retrieved from http://www.deutsches-museum.de/en/about-us/mission-statement/
- Doering, Z. D., & Pekarik, A. J. (1996). Questioning the entrance narrative. *Journal of Museum Education*, 21(3), 20–23.
- Dole, J. A., & Sinatra, G.M. (1998). Reconceptualising change in the cognitive construction of knowledge. *Educational Psychologist*, *33*(2–3), 109–128.
- Dorfman, E. (2018). Introduction. In E. Dorfmann (Ed.), *The Future of Natural History Museums* (pp. 1–9). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Dumanoski, D., Farland, W., & Krimsky, S. (1999). Science in the public arena: a panel discussion. In S. M. Friedman, S. Dunwoody, & C. L. Rogers (Eds.), *Communicating Uncertainty. Media Coverage of New Controversial Science* (pp. 167–178). Mahwah, N.J.: Erlbaum.
- Durant, J. (2004). The challenge and the opportunity of presenting 'unfinished science'. In D. Chittenden, G. Farmel, & B. V. Lewenstein (Eds.), *Creating connections: Museums and the Public Understanding of Current Research* (pp. 47–60). Walnut Creek, CA: AltaMira Press.
- Falk, J. H. (2006). An Identity-Centered Approach to Understanding Museum Learning. *Curator: The Museum Journal*, 49(2), 151–166.
- Falk, J. H. (2007). Toward an improved understanding of learning from museums: Filmmaking as metaphor. In J.H. Falk, L. D. Dierking, & S. Foutz, (Eds.) *In Principle, In Practice: Museums as Learning Institutions* (pp. 3–16). Plymouth: Alta-Mira Press.

- Falk, J. H. (2009). *Identity and the Museum Visitor Experience*. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.
- Falk, J. H. & Dierking, L. D. (1998). Free-choice learning: an alternative term to informal learning? *Informal Learning Environments Research*, *2*(2).
- Falk, J. H., & Dierking, L. D. (2013). *The Museum Experience Revisited*. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.
- Falk, J. H., Heimlich, J., & Bronnenkant, K. (2008). Using Identity-Related Visit Motivations as a Tool for Understanding Adult Zoo and Aquarium Visitors' Meaning-Making. *Curator: The Museum Journal*, *51*(1), 55–79.
- Falk, J. H., Moussouri, T., & Coulson, D. (1998). The Effect of Visitor's Agendas on Museum Learning. *Curator: The Museum Journal*, *41*(2), 107–120.
- Falk, J. H., & Storksdieck, M. (2005). Using the Contextual Model of Learning to Understand Visitor Learning from a Science Center Exhibition. *Science Education*, 89(5), 744–778.
- Falk, J. H., & Storksdieck, M. (2010). Science Learning in a Leisure Setting. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching 47*(2), 194–212.
- Field, A. (2005). Regression. In A. Field (Ed.), *Discovering Statistics using SPSS* (2nd ed., pp.143–217). London, England: Sage.
- Field, H., & Powell, P. (2001). Public understanding of science versus public understanding of science, 10, 421–426.
- Fischer, A. R., Van Dijk, H., De Jonge, J., Rowe, G., & Frewer, L. J. (2013). Attitudes and attitudinal ambivalence change towards nanotechnology applied to food production. *Public Understanding of Science*, *22*(7), 817–831.
- Fox, E. (2009). The role of reader characteristics in processing and learning from informational text. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(1), 197-261.
- Glaser, M., & Schwan, S. (2015). Explaining pictures: How verbal cues influence processing of pictorial learning material. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 107(4), 1006–1018.
- Graesser, A. C., León J. A., & Otero, J. (2002). Introduction to the Psychology of Science Text Comprehension. In J. Otero, J. A. León, & A. C. Graesser (Eds.), *The Psychology of Science Text Comprehension* (pp. 1–18). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Hein, G. E., & Alexander, M. (1998). *Museums: Places of learning*. Washington, DC: American Association of Museums.
- Hidi, S. (2000). An interest researcher's perspective: The effects of extrinsic and intrinsic factors on motivation. In C. Sansone & J. M. Harackiewicz (Eds.), *Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation: The search for optimal motivation and performance* (pp. 309–339). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Krapp, A., Renninger, K. A., & Hidi, S. (2004). Interest, a motivational variable that combines affective and cognitive functioning. In D. Y. Dai, & R. J. Sternberg (Eds.), *Motivation, emotion, and cognition* (pp. 103-130). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hohenstein, J., & Moussouri, T. (2018). *Museum Learning: Theory and Research as Tools for Enhancing Practice*. Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Hood, M. G. (1983). Staying Away: Why People Choose Not to Visit Museums. *Museum News*, *61*(4), 50–57.

- Hooper-Greenhill, E. (2004). Measuring learning outcomes in museums, archives and libraries: The Learning Impact Research Project (LIRP). *International Journal of Heritage Studies*, 10(2), 151–174.
- Hooper-Greenhill, E. (2007). The Generic Learning Outcomes: a conceptual and interpretative framework. In E. Hooper-Greenhill (Ed.), *Museums and Education: Purpose, Pedagogy, Performance* (pp. 44–62). Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- ICOM (n.d.). *Museum Definition*. Retrieved from https://icom.museum/en/activities/standards-guidelines/museum-definition/
- Jonas, K., Diehl, M., & Brömer, P. (1997). Effects of attitudinal ambivalence on information processing and attitude-intention consistency. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 33(2), 190–210.
- Kanel, V., & Tamir, P. (1991). Different Labels Different Learnings. *Curator: The Museum Journal*, *34*(1), 18–30.
- Kardash, C. M., & Howell, K. L. (2000). Effects of epistemological beliefs and topic-specific beliefs on undergraduates' cognitive and strategic processing of dual-positional text. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92, 524–535.
- Kintsch, W. (1994). Text comprehension, memory, and learning. *American Psychologist*, 49(4), 294–303.
- Krosnick, J. A., Boninger, D. S., Chuang, Y. C., Berent, M. K., & Carnot, C. G. (1993). Attitude strength: One construct or many related constructs? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65(6), 1132–1151.
- Krosnick, J. A., & Petty, R. E. (1995). Attitude strength: An overview. In R. E. Petty, & J. A. Krosnick (Eds.), *Attitude strength: Antecedents and consequences* (pp. 1–24). New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Kürschner, C., Schnotz, W., & Eid, M. (2007). Konstruktion mentaler Repräsentationen beim Hör- und Leseverstehen. *Zeitschrift für Medienpsychologie*, *18*(2), 48–59.
- Leinhardt, G., Crowley, K., & Knutson, K. (2002). *Learning conversations in museums*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Lewalter, D., Geyer, C., & Neubauer, K. (2014). Comparing the effectiveness of two communication formats on visitors' understanding of nanotechnology. *Visitor studies*, *17*(2), 159–176.
- Lewalter, D., Phelan, S., Geyer, C., Specht, I., Grüninger, R., & Schnotz, W. (2015). Investigating Visitor Profiles as a Valuable Addition to Museum Research. *International Journal of Science Education*, *Part B*, *5*(4), 357–374.
- Macdonald, S. (1995). Consuming Science: Public Knowledge and the Dispersed Politics of Reception among Museum Visitors. *Media, Culture & Society, 17*(1), 13–29.
- Mason, R., Robinson, A., & Coffield, E. (Eds.) (2018). *Museum and Gallery Studies. The Basics*. Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Mayer, R. E., & Moreno, R. (1998). A split-attention effect in multimedia learning: Evidence for dual processing systems inworking memory. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *90*(2), 312–320.
- Mazda, X. (2004). Dangerous ground? Public engagement with scientific controversy. In D. Chittenden, G. Farmel, & B. V. Lewenstein (Eds.), *Creating connections: Museums and the Public Understanding of Current Research* (pp. 127–144). Walnut Creek, CA: AltaMira Press.

- Meyer, M. (2009). From 'cold' science to 'hot' research: the texture of controversy. *CSI* working paper series 016, 1–13.
- Moussouri, T. (1997). Family Agendas and Family Learning in Hands-on Museums (Doctoral dissertation, Leicester, University of Leicester). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/2381/31158
- Moussouri, T. & Roussos, G. (2013). Examining the Effect of Visitor Motivation on Observed Visit Strategies Using Mobile Computer Technologies. *Visitor Studies* 16(1), 21–38.
- Muis, K. R. (2007). The role of epistemic beliefs in self-regulated learning. *Educational Psychologist*, 42(3), 173–190.
- Nakamura, J., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2014). The concept of flow. In M. Csikszentmihalyi (Ed.), *Flow and the Foundations of Positive Psychology* (pp. 239–263). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Novey, L. T., & Hall, T. E. (2006). The effect of audio tours on learning and social interaction: An evaluation at Carlsbad Caverns National Park. *Science Education*, 91(2), 260–277.
- Oertel, D., & Grunwald, A. (2006). *Potenziale und Anwendungsperspektiven der Bionik, Vorstudie.* Retrieved from https://www.tab-beim-bundestag.de/de/pdf/publikationen/berichte/TAB-Arbeitsbericht-ab108.pdf.
- Oxford Dictionaries (2018). *Definition of museum in English*. Retrieved from https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/museum
- Packer, J. M. (2004). *Motivational Factors and the Experience of Learning in Educational Leisure Settings* (Doctoral dissertation, Brisbane, Queensland University of Technology). Retrieved from https://eprints.gut.edu.au/15911/
- Packer, J. M. (2006). Learning for Fun: The Unique Contribution of Educational Leisure Experiences. *Curator: The Museum Journal* 49(3), 329–344.
- Packer, J. M., & Ballantyne, R. (2002). Motivational factors and the visitor experience: A comparison of three sites. *Curator: The Museum Journal*, *45*(3), 183–198.
- Packer, J. M., & Ballantyne, R. (2005). Solitary vs. shared: Exploring the social dimension of museum learning. *Curator: The Museum Journal*, *48*(2), 177–192.
- Pedretti, E. G. (2004). Perspectives on learning through research on critical issues-based science center exhibitions. *Science Education*, 88(1), 34–47.
- Pekarik, A. J., Doering, Z. D., & Karns D. A. (1999). Exploring Satisfying Experiences in Museums. *Curator: The Museum Journal*, *42*(2), 152–173.
- Pekarik, A. J., & Schreiber, J.B. (2012). The Power of Expectation. *Curator: The Museum Journal*, *55*(4), 487–496.
- Petty, R. E., & Cacioppo, J. T. (1986). The elaboration likelihood model of persuasion. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (pp. 123–205). New York, NY: Springer.
- Petty, R. E., Briñol, P., Loersch, C., & McCaslin, M. J. (2009). The need for cognition. In M.R. Leary, & R.H. Hoyle (Eds.), *Handbook of individual differences in social behavior* (pp. 318–329). New York, NY: Guildford.
- Petty, R. E., Wheeler, S. C., & Tormala, Z. T. (2003). Persuasion and attitude change. In T. Millon & M. J. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of Psychology: Personality and Social Psychology* (2nd ed., Vol. 5, pp. 353–382). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

- Phelan, S., Bauer, J., & Lewalter, D. (2018). Visit motivations: development of a short scale for comparison across sites. *Museum Management and Curatorship*, 33(1), 25–41.
- Phelan, S., Specht, I., Schnotz, W., & Lewalter, D. (2017). Attitude change when presenting science museum visitors with risk–benefit information. *Science Education*, 101(6), 873–886
- Price, C. A., & Lee, H. S. (2013). Changes in participants' scientific attitudes and epistemological beliefs during an astronomical citizen science project. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *50*(7), 773–801.
- Reeve, J., Ryan, R., Deci, E. L., & Jang, H. (2008). Understanding and promoting autonomous self-regulation: A self-determination theory perspective. In D. H. Schunk, & B. J. Zimmerman (Eds.), *Motivation and self-regulated learning: Theory, research, and applications* (pp. 223–244). New York, NY: Erlbaum.
- Rennie, L. J., & Johnston, D. J. (2007). Research on Learning from Museums. In J. H. Falk, L. D. Dierking, & S. Foutz (Eds.), *In Principle. In Practice Museum as Learning Institutions* (pp. 57–76). Lanham, MD: AltaMira Press.
- Rounds, J. (2004). Strategies for the curiosity-driven museum visitor. *Curator: The Museum Journal*, 47(4), 389–412.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *25*(1), 54-67.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017a). Introduction. In R. M., Ryan, & E. L. Deci (Eds.) Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness (pp. 3–25). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017b). Psychological Needs. In R. M., Ryan, & E. L. Deci (Eds.) Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness (pp. 80–101). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Schnotz, W. (2002). Commentary: Towards an integrated view of learning from text and visual displays. *Educational psychology review*, *14*(1), 101–120.
- Schommer-Aikins, M. (2002). An evolving theoretical framework for an epistemological belief system. In B. K. Hofer, & P. R. Pintrich (Eds.), *Personal Epistemology* (pp. 103–118). Mahwah: Erlbaum.
- Schunk, D. H. (2012). Constructivism. In D.H. Schunk (Ed.), *Learning theories an educational perspective* (6th ed., pp. 228–277). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Schwan, S., Dutz, S., & Dreger, F. (2018). Multimedia in the wild: Testing the validity of multimedia learning principles in an art exhibition. *Learning and Instruction*, *55*, 148–157.
- Screven, C. G. (1992). Motivating visitors to read labels. *ILVS Review: A Journal of Visitor Behavior*, *2*(2), 183–211.
- Serrell, B. (2015). *Exhibit labels: An Interpretive Approach*. London, England: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Specht, I., Phelan, S., & Lewalter, D. (2015). Conflicting Information in Science Museums: An Exploratory Study. *International Journal of the Inclusive Museum, 8*(2), 1–14.
- Stadtler, M., Scharrer, L., & Bromme, R. (2011). How reading goals and rhetorical signals influence recipients' recognition of intertextual conflicts. In L. Carlson, C. Hoelscher, & T.F. Shipley (Eds.), Proceedings of the 33rd Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society (pp. 1346–1351). Austin, TX: Cognitive Science Society.

- Van Dijk, H., Fischer, A. R., De Jonge, J., Rowe, G., & Frewer, L. J. (2012). The impact of balanced risk–benefit information and initial attitudes on post-information attitudes. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *42*(8), 1958–1983.
- Visser, P. S., Bizer, G. Y., & Krosnick, J. A. (2006). Exploring the latent structure of strength-related attitude attributes. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 38, 1–67.
- Waltner, C., & Wiesner, H. (2009). Learning effectiveness of museum visits as part of physics class. *Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften*, *15*, 195–217.
- Webb, R. C. (1997). Comparing high-involved and low-involved visitors: A review of the consumer behavior literature. *Visitor Studies: Theory, Research and Practice, 9*, 276–287.
- Yalowitz, S. S. (2002). Personality and motivation in visitor satisfaction. *Visitor Studies Today, 5*(1), 14–17.
- Yaneva, A., Rabesandratana, T. M., & Greiner, B. (2009). Staging scientific controversies: A gallery test on science museums' interactivity. *Public Understanding of Science*, *18*(1), 79–90.